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| GENERAL HEADQUARTERS
| UNITED STATES ARMY FOROES, PACIFIC
| OFFICER OF THE THEATER JUDGE ADVOCATE

I\ J’A.ml-l-lh » Tomoyuki, AP, 0, 500.

' SUBJECT: Review of the Record of Trial by a Militaxy Commission of
TR Tomoyuk{ Yemashita, G@ESTAl, Dmperial Japanese Awmy,
TO: The Commander-in-Chief, United States Axmy Forces, Pacifisc,
APO 500,
1. OFFENSES:

a, Ohu-gs Vioclation of the lLaws of wWar

While commander of Armed Forces of Japan

at war with the United states of America
and its Allies, wnlawfully disregarded

and failed to discharge his duty as com-
mander to control the operations of the
membera of his command, pemitting them

to commit brutal atrocities and other high
¢rimes against people of the United States
and of its dependencies, particularly the
Philippines, between 9 October 1944 and

£ September 1945, at Manila and other places
in the Philippines (R 31)

Such atrocities are enumerated as Items
1-123 in the Bill of Particulars as dis-
cussed in paregraph 2 hereafter, and proof
on each of the 90 items on which testimony

was adduced is analyzed in detail in the
% ammex t0 this review _
b. Pleas: Not Guilty (R 58)
¢. Findings; Guilty (R406S) -
d. _Sentemce: Death Ly hanging (R4063)

AS a military commission
ect "

T lnmmm eonbapel
my

f+ Conven { Lisutenant Gemeral W. D.
B%. Us S¢ Avmy, commnding United

States Army Forces, Westem Pacifie, who
approved the sentente

e wz The High Conmissioner’s
Residemce, Manila, P. I. (R 1)

h. t Arraigmment 8 October 1945:
October 1945 $0 7 December 1945 (R 1,6?.
4063

te of
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— = - - R —— ui.--—ﬂ-l’r"""*"




b A s snsasasn iy HEMARKS:

This is a trial by military commission, By Letter Order (R 20),
file AG 0005 (24 Sept 45) DCS, General re, United States Army
Forces, Pacific, dated 24 September 1945, Subject: "Trial of War Crim-
inals", the Commanding General, United States Army Forces, Vestern Pacifie,
was authoriszed to appoint military commissions for the trial of war erim-
inals, and, accordingly, accused, Ceneral Tomoyuki Yamashita, was brought
to trial before such a comuission under charges alleging violation of the
Laws of Var as above set forth. Accused was arraigned 8 October 1945 and,
pursuant to motion of the defense, a Bill of Particulars and later a
supplemental Bill were furnished accused, setting forth the details of
the 123 atrocitlies included within the charge, for which accused was al-
leged to be responsible, The actual trial 29 October 1945 and ended
7 December 1945. The record consisted of 4,063 pages and 437 exhibits,
The prosecution introduced competent evidence on 90 of the items of the
original and supplemental Bills, establishing the killing by Japanese
military and naval personnel operating on land, of more than 30,000 men,
women and children throughout the 8, without trial or apparent
cause, in addition to other thousands of acts of rape, torture, looting,
pillaging and destruction of homes, entire villages and other civilian
property, as well as the killing and mistreatment of prisoners of war and
civilian internees. Because of the exceedingly voluminous character of
the testimony, the evidence of these atrocities will be summarized and
consolidated in this review, while each of the several items alleged in
the Bills of Particulars on which evidence was introduced, together with
an analysis of the evidence to support it, is set forth in an annex here~
to appended. In summarizing the evidence for the prosecution, considere-
tion will be first given to alleged atrocities against civilians, showing
thoir geographical distribution throughout the 8, followed by
slmllar actions against prisoners of war and civilian internees, and
finally the evidence of the alleged individual responsibility of the
accused for actions committed by his subordinates,

3¢ BEVIDENCE: The competent evidenoce, thﬁforo, is briefly sumoar-
ized as followss

8. Evidence for the Prosecution:

(1) Offenses against Civilians:

UANITA (Iteas 3, 10, 12, 15, 16, 17, 20, 23, 24, 25, 27, 28, 29, 30, 32
3%, 355 36, b1, L8, 50, 51, 52, 53, 60, 61, 62, 63, b4, 68, 77, 80,
88, 89, 93, 97, 98, 99, 101, 102, 104, 1055 '

Upon the approach of the American forces in February 1945, the Im-
perial Japanese Army and Navy forces killed and wounded great numbers of
the people of lianila, destroyed large areas of the ¢ty and blew up and
burned homes and other private property (R 370, 383, KOO, 467, 589, 676,
769, T78, 109, 1103, 1107; Ex 82, 91, 92, 93, 119, 124, 131, 153, 157,
162, 192), fortified and defended hospitals and shurches, forcine the
Americans to attack and destroy these buildings in order to drive out the
Japanese areed forces (R 572, 1259, 1292), Other religious and charitable
Institutions were deliberately destroyed by explosives and fire (R 179,
185, 1258, 1282, 2048, 20543 Ex 15), as were public buildings of no mili-
tary value (R 1188, 1200). Over 8,000 men, women and children, all unarmed,
non-¢compatant civilians, were killed and over 7,000 mistreated, maimed
and wounded without cause or trial (R 212, 271, 348, 370, 412, 429, k4S5,
537’ “’ 669’ 717' 7”: 773 m: 871, llh'b 11’9, 1197, m: 1_2?2! mzl
1270, 1299, 1370, 2211, 2223).




The Japanese comsidered all Filipinos, including women and children,
as guerrillas, andordered them put to death upon advanee of the Asericans
on Menila (R 2005, 2906: Ex 392). The orders prescrided the procedure
to be followed: the victims were to be gathered in & house or other place,
killed with the least expenditure of smmunition and meupower, and the
bodies disposed of by burning with the building or deing thrown inte a
river (R3909, 2910; Bx 393). These orders were carried out and swuper-
vised by officers of the Imperial Jspaness Army and Navy (R 136, 204,
223, 364, 267, 348, 588, 716, 740, Y67, 77V, 831, 633, 1139, 1143, 1260,
2162, 2168, 2345). 1n two instances, the Japanese officers stated to
(t:o.l;zﬁ:;;.:)l that they were acting pursuant to orders of higher suthority

’ e

-In the mass of the 44 atrocities revealed by the evidence, there ap-
peared a similarity of pattera and an orderlineses and dispateh in exe-
cution. In the first place, the reign of terror broke out suddenly, lasted
& short peried, prineipally from 6 to 30 February 1945, and followed the
standard proeedure preserided in orders., The vietims were rounded uwp at
a central place, usually & house or larger duilding (R 190, 410, 439, 480,
463, 587, 606, 715, 738, 767, 775, 797, 825, 26?; Bx 151), vhers they
wvere dayonsted, burned or othervies killed with the miniswm ex-
penditure ¢of ammmmition (R 1“. m. m. ”. w. “. m. m. m.
621, 717, 748, 779, 798, 833, 1134, 1197, 2161, 7168; Bx 126). The bodies
wvere then disposed of by throwing into a river (R 808, 865) or duraning
vith 2 house or (R 487, 607, 630, 768, 778, 1188, s 1837;
Ex 91, 92, 93, 114, nmhmlm-hnﬁ)- Further
evidence of prior plaaning wes the advance preparation of the sites of
the atrocities, as for example, having strings installed to sett off ex-
?:nl.m (R 445, 477), holer omt in the floor for dedies to fall

633), mass graves dug (R 2151, 2288) snd gasoline resdy for bdurning
bodies and buildings (R 467, 589, 669, 768, 778).

Throughout this peried, individusl Japanese and groups of Japanose
indulged in acts of bdestiality and sadism., FHundreds of women and girls
wvere reped (R 203, 503, 318, 388, 508, §13, 536, 551, 669, 676, 1352,
1276, 1291, 2045, 2052), bremte asd genitals of females were hacked off
or abused (R 386, 519, 670, 768; Bx 77, 82) and dead Dodies of wemen were
violated (R 318), Babies were thrown into the air and spitted on dagomets
(R 483, 1169), Men and women, without canes, were Deaten with olubds and
fnhtt-. burned, hung by the limbs, Dlinded and given the "water cure"

large guantitiss of water being forced Shrough the mount and noatrils)
(R 871, 873, 863, 901, 2218),
these atrocities (R 1254, 1267, 1291).

BATANGAS FROVINOE, LUSON ISLAND (Items 1, 43, 44, 45, 47, 49, B4, B7)

Nore than 16,000 unarmed, non-conbatant civiliane, including large
aumbers of women and children, were killed in Batangas Province from
November 1944 to April 1945 (R 1510, 1534, 1547, 1568, 1580, 1594, 1601,
1740, 1770, 1808, 1829, 1846, 1865). In addition to dayometing, shooting

and burying the victims alive, the Japanese foroed 300men to gusp by

saall into & well 30 meters deep, after vhich many were shot and
heavy dropped on them (R 1483.1498), In another instases,
300 %o iviliane were forced into a room, dayometed and shot,
after the bodies ¢ set on fire
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the remaining 12,000
008, indicate that they wre caused by
ageney, i.e., the Jspanese (R 1594, 1601, 1602, 1841).
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Agco these massacres were mumerous cases ofpillaging (R 1766,
1776, 1018) and wanton destruction of private, pudliec and religious property
vithout military neeessity (R 1559, 1588, 1603, 16234, 1648, 1661, 1671,
1788, 1740, 1833, 1849, 2190), Several entire darrios were burmed to the
Lipa (population 45,000), Santo Tomas (100 houses and Tansuan
1,602 houses) were almost entirely destroyed dy the Japanese (R1588, 18592,
1833, 1849, 2200),

The following evidenoe indicates a deliderate plan of extermination:
moat of the atrocities wore committed during a shors peried in Yebruary
1945 (R 1491, 1506, 1515, 1534, 1533, 1546, 1886, 1621, 1628, 1647, 1652,
1666, 1661, 1671, 1707, 1710, 1714, 1736, 1737, 1739, 1764, 1776, 1783,
1799, 1813, 1839, nu’ and were carried on under the supervision of
Jepanese officers (R 1510, 1518, 1631, 1767, 1770, 1811, 1820, 1832) fol-
loving the same procedure of concentrating the pepulation of a town or
barrio at a convenient place and killing them im an orderly mamner (R 1491,
1606, 1615, 1824, 1534, 1707, 1710, 1714, 1764, 1775, 1801, 1613), The
large meale upon which attempts vere made to exterminate the male popula-
tion of some (R 1534, 1847, 1770) and the waaten of women
and children (R 1510, 1568, 1581, 1740, 1805, 18239, 1848, 1855) indicate
an intention %o wipe out the people of the prevince, The deliberate des-
truction of whole towas and darrios was aleo a part of this planm (R 1588,
1602, 1628, 1648, 1653, 1681, 1671, 1739, 1833, 1849),

Although in a few spegific instances the witnesses failed to give the
branch of service of the Japansse perpetrators (R 1737, 1754, 2187), it
wvas clearly proved that the mase of atrocities was committed by officers
and soldiers of the lmperial Japanese Avmy (R 1770, 1781, 1003, 1815,
1839, 1833, 2182)., Batengas Provimse, during this pariod, was under the
eontrol of the Fuji Eeidan Neadquarters, the 17tk Infantry Regiment sad
the military police, all components of the army (R 1487, 1488; 3BEx 384),

BULUCAN FROVINGE, LUZON L1SLAND (1tem 83)

Five hundred men of the village of Pole were gathered up by Japansse
soldiers on 10 Decsmber 1944, some of them were beaten, a fow released
and the mest executed at the cemetery (R 2352, 2386). O=n the same day,
200 men of the town of Obande were also mistreated and executed at the
hands of the Japanese army, navy and military police (R 2365-2365), On
1945, 29 men, vomen and children of Obando were killed by
bayoneting, mmong them a 19 day old daby and a young wvoman who was firet
raped and disesboweled (R 3369-2874), and on 38 , 8% the same
place, several women and children were killed (R 2365) and a boatload
of eivilians on a river passing through Obande were fired on by the
Japanese, Some drowned and those vho did not were bayoneted, only one
escaping (R 2374, 2375). |

SAGAYAN FROVINCE, LUZON ISLAND (Part of Item 72)

Thirty miles east of Aparri at the bYarrie of Tepal on 30 June 1945,
Japansse soldiers firved on five wnarned Filipines in a boat, killing one
and wounding two, bayonsted and killed three men and women after first
tying them $0 a tree, dlinded two men by grenade fragments and injured
three others by saber nt.\qun cuts, and disposed of ten or twelve
ther bodies in wells, ontn were Saken to the Japanese command post
and did not return (R 2057-3062).

SAVITE PROVINCE, LUSON 1SLAND (Items 66, B84, 85, pars of 73)
On 16 and 17 December 1944, Jepanese military police gathered 12 citi-
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' sens of Imms, including four dectors (R 2430-2433, 2436-2430, 2442-2443)
and 23 men of Dasmarinns, guerrilla suspecis, tortured them and later
executed them in the cemetery without $rial (R 3439, 5440, 3444, 3449,
2458, 2469-2465, 5472). Some were eruwslly deaten, given the "water cure
and burned on the feet vhile suspended from the eeiling (R 2434, 2438-
2439, 2448-2449, 2456, 2457). Other eitisens, including a voman, were
alse tortured but not executed (R 5448, 2454, 2458), At Tagatay on 29
January, 1945 50 to €0 wnarmed men, vonen and children vere bound and
held all day in a private house dy Japanese soldiers vho later took them
out one by one, asked them if they were guerrillas and receiving a nega-
tive response, undressed them, laid them fase down, pounded them on the
back with pleces of wood, cud them with a bolo knife end sving them
over a steep cliff, 43 to 45 desths resulting (R 2140-2149).

LAGUEA PROVINOE, LUZON I1SLAND (Items 85, 568, 58, 108, part of 72)

Un six different occasions from Z1 February $o 6 March 1945, Japanese
officers, soldiers and milimry police gathered Sogether and killed by
bayoneting, & total of about 364 men, wvomen and children from different
bearrios of Loe Nanos (R 1674-10890, 2878-3393), and even earlier, on 3
February, sbout 307 burned dedies and skeletons were fouad in and about
the chapel at the College of Agriculture (R 2386, 2387). MNore tham 2,800
pon, vomen and children of Calashba were killed by dayoneting or buraning
on a single day, 12 February 1948 (R 1977, 1939, 1981, 1985, 1593, 1999,
2004, 2008, 2013), at wvhich time mumercus houses were buried (B 1981, 1985,
2005, 2010, 2018). All male residents of San Padble between the ages of
156 and 5O, 6,000 to 8,000 in all, were assembled in a local church an 24
February 1945 (R 2064, 2065, 2089), The 700 Chiness among thoese assembled
vere taken out, foreced %o dig large trenches and under the supervision of
officers were bayometed to death and throwm into the tremches (R 3070,
2072, 2083), some being behanded by the officers (R 2084, 2088). The
folloving day five patienta vere taken from the losal hospital by the
Japanese soldiers and deheaded vhile on their stretchers (R3090, 2091).
All inhabitants of another town, presumably Anilso, were killed duriang the
nonth of Fedruary by one Jepsnese unit, vhich looted quantities of food,
monoy and citilism goods (R 2093)., Under the direotions of a captain,

60 Japansse soldliers Bound aad bayoneted $o death over 32 men, vomen and
children at Pingus on 9 April 1945 (R 1894, 1901), Three soldiers at
(ﬂnt u)- looted a private house and attempted to rape one female olvilian
R 1092).

LA UN108 PROVINCR, LUZON ISTAND (Item 90)

About 150 residents of the darrio of Negros, San Fernando, La Union,
on 18 Jamuery 1948, 50 of the bdarriec of Cazilegon, San Juan, on the same
day, and 800 of the darrio of Dalaysp, Sen FPermando, La Union, on 26
January 1945, vere gnthered updy the Japanese and killed dy bayoneting,
beheading and striking on the head (R 2338-2343), the barrios of Casilo-
gon and Dalayap doth being burned (R 2841, 2243).

MOUESAIN FROVINGE, LUZON ISLAND (Items 114,115, 116, part of 72)

A growp of 16 men and 67 vomen and children on their way from Birak
Mines to the lovlands in search of food on 18 April 1948 were seized by
30 Japanese soldiers under the command of two officers (R 2656, 26567,
2681). 7The men were tied in groups of four each, led 50 yards awvmy,
blindfolded, dayoneted and thrown into & ditch (R 2657, 2658), Despite
screams of protest, the same treatment was given the women and children
\(t:o’:g; not dlindfolded (R 2659)., Only one of the entire growp survived




A larger group of 3150 men, wvomen and children, alse on a journsy to
the lovlands in search of food, from Sansyes on 10 April 1945, wvere reo-
lieved of all their possessions by Japanese soldiers (R 2314-2315, 2327-
2332) who sgain separated the mem from the vomen and children and took
' them to the side of a mountain vherse they wvere killed by belang struck in
the neck (R 2320), The women and children were taken femily by family
to the mountain and despite urgent pretests were told it was "Yemashita's
order to kil1" (R 2817, 2824), and vithout reason were blindfolded, etruck
on the neck and rolled/dewn the hill (R 3319, 2333, 2837), Only twe to
four of the entire group survived (R 2320, 2321, 2330),

Seven ¢ivilians wvere apprehended by 1,000 soldiers of the Japanese
Tiger Unit (R 2507) at the village of Nanipil, Mountain Frovinece, on 185

April 1945, and on pleading ignorence to questions comscerning guerrillas’
activities were "boxed", slapped and tied to a tree (R 28502, 2503) and

the next day witnessed the soldiers machine gun and set fire to 30
houses of the village (R 2806). They were then $aken to Titig Mountain
vhare they were beheaded and fell or were pushed over the side (R 2506).

Ona sscaped fatal injury,
(Items 11, pars of 72)

During December 1944, 30 civilian prisoners at Payusbong garrison in
Vascaya were taken to previously prepared graves and execdsd dy bayonet-
ing (R 2404-2408), many having previously bdeen tortured dy the "water cure*
or vhipped (R 2405, 2408), Ome women prisoner was repeatedly reped
(R 2421, 2413).

At Bagadbag Verry oa 17 December, the Japanese commander, affer call-

ing & meeting of al]l men of 16 years of age or over, selected about 235
vith the help of a Filipino colladborationist, tied them up and killed 21

by bayoneting and shooting (R 3413, 2414).

ALBAY PROVINGE, BATAN ISLAND (Items 117, 119, 131)

About 80 unarmed, non-combatant, allegedly pro-American sympathisers
vere arrested and confined by the Japanese at Baseco, Baten lslend, from
early May to about 1 Septembder 1945 (R 2631, 2632, 2634, 2635), Some
wore tortured by being hwng from the rafters and having samall gquantities
of flaming liquid applied to their skin, others suffered broken hands
and lost their eyes, and 2% least 74 vere killed (R 2639, 2631, 2634, 2635),

SERU PROVINOE, OBATHAL PHILIPPINES (Item 112)

Four Japanese soldiers at Cebu City on 26 March 1945, raped several
civilian girls 13 to 19 years of age (R 2038, 23089), them killed 12 men-
bers of their family, including women and childrah, by dayometing and
burning, and finslly destroyed the house by fire (R 2032-2038).

SISY OF DAVAD FROVINGE, MINDANAO ISLAND (Item 118)

Two days after a warning by a Japanese captain to the inhabitants of
Davao City on 13 May 1945 that the Americans were coming and all oivilians

would be killed (R 2931-2033), Japanese army and navy personnel killed by
bayoneting and deating 165 inhabitants of one barrie, including women and

small ohildren (R 2933-2940),

S (1tem 123)

Four Filipino eiviliane were dayoneted and killed by Japanese soldiers
at Iloilo from 8 $o 13 Jammry 1945, one after being throwa in the alr
end kicked and another folloving his reque st for sugar from a Japaiese capi-




tain (R 2157-2164). Another vas shot andkilled by Jepansse soldiers
on 31 March vhen he mistook the soldiers for guerrillas and shouted,
"Victory Parade®, (R 2160-2161).

AEYIE FROVINCE, CENTRAL PHILIPPINES (Item 11)

At the bdarrio of Dapdap, Ponson Island, on 29 December 1944, 300
civilians were assembled in a church by Japanese soldiers, vhere 100 were
singled out, dayoneted and machine gumned, 60 dying from wounds received
(R 2474-2481, 2496, 2496; Pros Bx 331). XElsewhere in the village, 300
other civilians, ineluding meny children, were murdered and several
wounded in their houses or in the vicinity of the church (R 2481, 2483-2488,
2406-2498; Pros Bx 334, 338),

(2) Offenses against Prisoners of War and Civilien Internees
(Iteme 2, 4, 6, 7, 9, 13, 69, 73, 76, 83, 86, 87, 89,
94, 95, 109, 122):

Buring the period October 1944 to February 1945, thousands of Amsrican
and British prisoners of war and eivilian internses, including vomen and
¢hildren, were confined in Old Bilibid Frison, Santo Tomes University and
Fort MeKinley, Nemile, and other prisonsr of war and eivilisn internse
eamps in Cabanstuam and Los Banos, luson, and Puerte Frincesa, Palawasn,
$.1. Large nmmbers were crowded togethey in poorly constructed and high-
ly inflazmable nipa and savale hute and their facilitiss for drinking
vater or latrines vere self-provided (R 1913-1983). MNany slept on floors
vithout mattrecses or Dlankets and lacked ssaitary facilities and medisal
supplies (R 2640). 1In some instances, medical supplies orxfinally were
provided once & month; in 1943 they were provided only wpon request and
fimally not at all (R 2647). In other instences, guinine was furnished
on rare occasions dut short of that no other medisal suppliss or equipment
vere issued and outside purchases were not permitted (R 13851-1382,
2789-23790). Trequently, Japenese soldiers removed mearly all medical sup-
piies from the fev Red Oross packages permitted to resch the camps (R 2789-
2802), A room in General Yamashita's headquarters was seem piled to the
¢eliling with Red Crosspacksges,ssny of which had been opensd and rifled
(R 1458). JFrom Octoder 1944 to February 1945 at Santo Tomas University,
Bo doctors or purses were provided but three American arsy doctors, pri-
soners of war, were peraitted to operate & hospital in the University com-
pound (R uus. Diadetes and dysentery wers prevaleat and there were
many deaths from disease and maluutrition (R 1468, 1861, 1914). The
American army doctors were not permitted to give malmutrition as a cause
of death (R 1488, 1861). Up to October 1944, a dally food rationm having
1,000 to 1,100 calories per person per day was provided (R 1439), It .
could be supplemented by outside purchases with Red Oross funds and vege-
tables raised in small gardens, but there is at least one instance on
record vhen the vegetables were confiscated (R 1354-1386, 1931). After
October 1844, the daily food ration detevdérated rapidly (R 1356), First
i% was reduced to two meals per day and thereafter progressiviy reduced
until it consisted of only bBetween 400 and 600 calories per persom per day
(R 1356, 1439), By November 1944, rice reserves decame exhausted, for
the most part it became palay or unhulled rice, and no purchsses from the
cutside were permitted (R 1363-1351, 1470-1483, 1981), Heals consisted
of no more than a watery, starchy substance and in some instances a spoon-

As a resul$, the priscners of war and eivil-

ful of dried fish (R 2837).
isn internees decame very weak, most of them voighing less than 100 pounds,
end ate pigeons, cats and rats vheam they could ecatch them (R 2643), Dur-
ing Deceadber 1544 and again in Jamuary 1845, garbege was made availedle

to eat, and Japanese soldiers stood around and laughed ms the prisoners

of var and internees fought for it (R 2643-2643)., Rotten meat filled with
maggots and provided on cecasion, and at Fort Nekimley 400 prisonsrs of




var wvere forced %o go one to two days without water and were redused %o
eating grass and sticks dug up in their inclosure (R 2758-2768)., AV
Ssnto Tomas University, Japanese guards and c¢ivilians received a much
better ration than the prisonere of war end eivilian internses there and
appeared detter fod (R 1886, 1419-1470). On 23 December 1944, four in-
ternses, Orimnell, Duggleby, Larson and Jolusoh, were arrested, one was
tortured and sudsequently all were deheaded (R 1369, 1370, 1414-1417).

On 28 December 1944, about 37 United States eivilian internees, in-
cluding womon and children, and all their baggage, vere moved in one
truck from Camp Holmes to 014 Bil1ibid Prison, a distance of adbout 175
miles (R 2788-2786)., ¥o more than three stops wers made enrocute for
food or relief, There were two cases of dysentery in the group and in
neitler cane was the internee given an oppertunity to get off the truck
(R 2783). MNany of the prisoners of war and eivilian internees were slapped
and required to stend at atteation or were forced to kneel on concrete
floors for long poriods of time by the Japanese guards (R 2038), Some were
beaten vith pick-handles, and others were compelled to work on military
installations, in the construction of alir fields or the loading and un-
lording of ships with smsmmition and domds (R 2806, 2807).

On about 15 Pecemder 1944, in O1ld Bilibid Frison, two scarcely regog-
nigable, thin and frail Aserican navy fliers vere executed vithout trial
(r 2267-2294), On 28 January 1945, at Los Banos, a oivilien internes
vas valking tovard camp betveen the two barbed vire fences surrounding
it and vithout wvarning or challenge was shot by a Jepanese guard, Al-
though wounded, he was dragesed to the guardhouse and with no semblange
of Srial was again shot through the head at the camp commendant'’s order
(R 19391941, 1960).

On 14 Decemder 1944 at Puerto Princesa, Falawan, a Jppanese lisuten-
ant ordered 150 United S4ates prisoners of war into three air reid shel-
ters (R 2Y09). Shaortly afterwards, Jepanese soldiers bdegan firing inte
them, PFoured in buckets of gasoline which they set on fire and vhen the
prisonsrs of war tried to escape, they were shot down and mont of them
killed with rifle and machine gun fire or dayoneted and cludbed (R 2710-
3714). A% another time, a Japanese soldier progresaively poured gasoline
on the fee$, bhanda and body of = wounded prisoner of war and 11t it vhile
the Japanese soldier's companiomsstood by and laughed and while the
prisoner of war pleaded to be shot (R 2718-2722).

On 13 Deceuder 1944, 1,619 officers and enlisted men, prisoners of
var, vere orovded into the hold of the Japenese steamship "Oryoku Naru"
(R 2838-2868), They were s0 crovded they had to remain in & sitting
fouthu without freedom of movement (R2840-2889)., They were not fed
R 2863), Tive-gallon cans were provided for urinale and latrines which
wvere not permitted to be emptied and, as a result, spilled 2ll over the
holds (R 2839-2889). Canteens and mess gear also had to be used for
uwrinsls and latrines, and in many instances afterwvard used for drinking
and eating (R 2844). Many went mad, sli$ each others' throate ani sucked
varm blood from their vietims (R 2844), The ship was not marked as a
prisoner of war transport and wvas beavily armed with anti-airoraft guns,
As & result, it wvas demsged and ultimately sunk by American aircraft, and
many prisoners of war vers lost (R 2880). As they scrambled out aof the
holds, they were machine gumned and bayoneted (R 2860-2861)., The sur-
vivors were gathered at Olangapo, neay Subic Bay, lLuzon, and during their
six-day stay there vere given thirteen of raw rice containing
rocks, sticks and dirs (R 2849.2862), Several were shot as they attempted
to salvege food from the ship (R 2840, 2863).

On 21 Nerch 1845, two American fliers who had been captured at
Talisay, Cedu, were taken with their hands tied dehind their backs to a




succeeded in getting out of the foxhole and asked for vater. HNe wvas
forced back into i%; vhereupon a Japanese soldier placed wood on top

of it, poured in gasoline and set it on fire, durning the sviateor $eo death
(R 2120, 2133),

On or about 20 November 1944, three American fliers, on 2 mission
to bomd the Japanese fleet, were shot dova north of Luson and mads their
wvay to Batan Islandin a rubber boat. There they vere captured and turned
over to the Japanese by the natives., After being held for a times, they
were taken out, tied to & tree, bayoneted and buried alive (R 2588, 2610).

(3) Accused's Responsidility:

During the period 9 October 1944 $o 3 September 1945, General Tomoyuki
Tamashita vas the Japanese Supreme Oommander in the Fhilippines, under
Oount Tereushi; the Supreme Southern Oommander (R 930, 1013, 2695, 3520).
He wes the Commanding Gemeral of the Jepanese 14th Army Orowp (alse re-
ferred to as the 14th Area Army) and, in addition, had eomsand of all the
Keapel Tal (militery police) in the Philippines (R 108, 2285, 2272, 3893).
the prisoner of war snd civilian istermment Campa were under his control
through the commanding general of war prisoners (R 3888; ¥x 7).

At firat thers were a mumber of Japenese forees in the Philippinen
vhich were not under his commend, such as the 4th Air Army, the 3rd Mari-
time Transport Command, 30,000 tro ters

Headquarters and Southern Army troops were essigned
to him (R 3525). The 4th Air Army ceme under his control on 1 Jamuary
1945 (R 2676, 3625, 3589)., By the middle of Fedruary, the 3rd Maritime
fransport Comnand came under Yamashita (R 3828),

The arny forces in Manila and southern Luson vere formed into the
Shimbu (mixed) growp about 26 December 1944 and command of this group given
to Lt, Gen, Shisw Yokoyama (R 2864, 3621). The growp consiated of 45,000
troops (R 2664), including the Puji Heidan of 6,000 troops in Datangss and
?u't of anu.;. uader the immedinte command of Col. Masatoshi Fujiahige
R 2810, 3811).

On 6 Jamuary 1945, about 20,000 maval land foroes in the Kanile erea
vere assigned to the army for Seotical commend only during land fighting
(R 2535, 2536, 2638, 3626, 3588). These naval forces included narines
and Hoguehi units from the Kobayashi growp, and were under the immediate
command of Rear Admiral Iwatuchi (R 2538, 2543, 2673). Diseiplinary
power over these forces remained in the naval commander, Admiral Okoochi,
and was exercised through Iwvabuchi (R 2545), The army actuslly began %o
exerci¢e command over these naval forces about 1 February (R 2668, 2671,
2672). Yamashita commanded these naval troops through Yokoyama's Shimbu

The prosecution introduced the folloving evidence on the issue of
the direct responsidility of asccused as distinguished from that incident
to mére command, Accused testified thet he had ordered the s ression
or "mopping wp® of guerrillas (R 2811, 3048, 3547, 3678; BEx 8B3). Advout
the middle of December 1944, Colonel Nishibkaru, the Judge Advoeste and
police officer of the 14th Army Growp, told Yamashita thet there wvas a
large nuaber of guerrillas in custody and there was not sufficient time




%o try them and said that the Xempel Tal would ®punish those who wers
to de punished”. To this Yamashite merely nodded in spparent approval
R 3763, 3763, 3814, 3018). Under this wummary procedurs over
persons were executed as“guerrillas® in Manila alone Between 15 28
Decenber 1944 (R 3763). 1In that same month, by s written order, Yamsshita
commended the Uortditarte (Nanila) Tal garricon for thelr fine work
ia "suppressing guerrilla sctivities® (R 905, 906). The osptured diary
of a Japanese Warrant Officer assigned to a unit operating in the Nanila
érea contained an entry dated 1 Pecember 1944, "Beceived orders, on the
mopping up of guerrillas last night ®* * * 44§ seens that all the mea are

to be killed. * ® Our odject is to wound and kill the men, $o get infor-
mation and o kill the women who run away®. (R 2883; Nx 388).

L

Throughout the record, evidence was presented iz the form of csp tured
documents and statements of Japanese made in comnection with the cemmiesion
of atrocities, referring to instructions to kill eciviliesns. Daring the
Paco massacre in Nanila 10 Fedbruary 1945, a Japanese officer said o his
intended victins, "You very fud man bt you die®, and, "Order from high
officer kill you, all of you®. (R 833). On 10 April 1945, during the
surder of civilians near Sasuyso, a Japanese soldier sald, "It was Yamashita's
order to kill all civilians®, (R 3317). A% By Pac lumber Tard, Manila,
on 2 February 1945, the Japanese captain in charge sald that this killing
vas "an order from M"l 2A74). At Galamde, Lagana, in February 1946,
the kil14 wvere "by order of the Army" becsuse the people wers "anti-
qun"ﬂ 2893, 2094). On 19 Fedbruary 1945, prior to the masspore at
Los Banos, the Japanese garrison commander told the nayor of Leos Banos
that the Filipinos were doubtle-crossers smd deserved to be killed. The
Japansse officer them told the mayor to prepare a 11s% of 50 ro-Japanene
¢ivilians and all the other Filipinos would de killed (R 2396). A eap-
tured order %0 a machine gun company states, "There will be many natives
elong our route from now on. All natives, Doth men and women, will de
killed". (R 2098).

Ceptured motes of instructions by Uolonsl Masatochi Fujishige, com-
mander of the Faji Heidan, to officers and non-commigsioned officers of
% reconnaisance unit contained the following, "Kill Ameriess troope
eruelly. Do mot kill them with one stroke. Shoot guerrillas. Kill all
who oppose the Bmperor, even women and children®, (R 2813). GColomel
::J“nr vas under the command of Yamsehita through Oenersl Yokoyssa

3811).

Bvidence in the form of captured documents was introduced to show
that before and during the dattle of Manils the following orders wvere
issued by the Japanese forcest Aa eperations order of the Manila Navy
Defense Torce and Southwestern Arsa Fleet directed that when Filipinoe
are %o be killed considerstion must de given to §aving amsanition sud
manpover and becmse disposal of dead bodies is“troudlesome they should
be gathered into houses wvhich are scheduled %o be Burned or destroyed (B 2909).
An order of the XKodayashi Eeidan group, 13 Fedruary 1945, directed that
all people on the dasttlefield in or arcund Manila, except Japanese and
Special Comstruction Units (Filipine ecollabdorators) would be put to death
(R 2908, 2906; Bx 404) (Note: The Kobayashi group, which imcluded the
Manila Navy Defense Foree, was commanded for land ozmum l{ Yemashite
through Gemeral Yokoyems (R 3538, 2673, 3622). A *top secres” order W
Tanashita as Commanding General, Shodu Awmy Oroup, dated 15 February 1945,
stated, "The Amy expects to induce and annihilate the enemy on the plains
of Gentral luson and in Manila. The operation is proceeding satisfastor-
%17.' (n)lm Bx 6). “Shotu" was the code name of the 14th Army Growp

Ex 3,4,.8).

The prosecution introduced two witnesses, Mareiso Lapus and Jaquin
B. Galang, vho were curreatly detained by the United States Governzent as
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fuspected collaborators (R 912, 1068; Def Bx A-B). Both these men pre-
viously had offered to exchange information as %o Japanese and W4}
eolladorators in return for thelsr freedom, but bYoth swore that they
mcgm e promise of reward for thelir testimony in this case (2 913,
1089).

secretary to General Artemio I
the Japanese (R 917, 923). He further
1944, Ricarte returned to hie rees

the Pilipinos 100 per cent as our enemies because all of them, directly

oF indirectly,are guerrillas or helping the gunerrillas”, and, "In & war
with the enemies, we don't need to give guarters. ‘he enemies should
g0." (R 938). Yamashita revealed his plan to allow the Americams to
enter Manila, then ocounter-attack and destroy the Americans and slso the
Filipinos in Mantla (R 939, 1023). HEe further said that he had imetrue-
tions to destroy Manila, particularly the most populated and commereial
district of the city (R 939). Ricarte stated that Yamashita had said

he had ordered that whem the population gave eigas of pro-American Roveaent
Or actions, the whole population of tha$ place should de wviped out (R 940).
Bicarte later told the withess that wvhen Ricarte, in November 1944, asked
him to revoke this order, Yamashita sald, "The order was given and ocould
not be changed®., (R llﬂ's.

The wvitnses Galang testified that he was present and overhomi a
conversation bPetween Yamashita and Ricarte, in December 1544 (R 1063,
1068, 1069). The conversation vas interpreted by Ricarte's 12 year old
grandson, Yamashita speaking Jeapanese which the witnsss did not understend
and the interpreter translating into Tagalog which the witness did under-
stand (R 1065, 1088). When asked by Riearte to reveke his order %o kill
all the Filipinos, Yamahsita becane angry sad spoke in Jepanese vhich was
interpreted into Tagalog as, "The order is ny order. And because of that
it should not% Ye drokem or disobtyed. 1I4% ought to be consumed, happen
vhat may happen®, (R 1069). (Noter The defense introduced Bielusme Romero,
the 13 year old grandson of Ricarte, who sald he had never interpreted
betwveen his grandfather and Yamashi ta, andspecifically denied interpret-
iag the conversation testified to by Galang (R 2014, 2021).).

b. Bvidenee for the Defense:

Acoused wvas advised of his righte as a vitness and elected to tentify
in substance that on 9 Ogtober 1944, nine daye Vefore American forees landed
on Leyte, he was assigned as comnanding gensral of the Japanese 14th Ares
Aray and charged with the defense of the Philippines (R 3518-3519). e
was not mmmnmnutmm.lmt!um. Com-
nander-in-Chief of the Japanese Southern Army, held that statue until 30
August 1945, and maintained beadquarters in Manila unti) 17 November 1945,
wvhen he movad to Saigon, French Indo-Chins (R 3630). Vhem acoused took
over command of the Japanese 14%h Ares Aray, there were 130,000 Japsnese
troops on luson mad 100,000 on Mimdanso. On 22 Oetoder 1948, W direction
of the Japanese Southern Army, accused sent 80,000 Japanese treops o
Leyte to assiat the Japanese Ravy and air corps in the defense of that
island (R 3833-3524). When, on about 7 Decemder 1944, he realized the
battle for Leyte was lost, his next problem was the defemse of lusen, and
at his request, from the deginning of Seoender 1944 to the middle of
February 1945, the Japanese Southern Avmy added to his command the fol-
loving rroops in luson mot previcusly under him: 30,000 troeps from the
Japanese Scuthern Army end Isperial General Eeadgquarters at the bdegianing
of December; the 4th Aly Arasy on 1 Jamvary; Japahese navy troops for
tactical purposes vhea in land operations only as of 6 Jamuary
(but actually om 3 Pedruary); and the 3rd Maritime Transport Command in
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The Japanese 14%h Area Aray contained only infantry and had very
1i%tle artillery suppors (R 23127). The population of Manila was so large
it was impossidle %o feed 1%; the bulldings were highly inflemmabdle and
the land vas flat and impossidle %o defend (R 8527). As a resul$, om or
acoused drew up a plan, which received the approval
of the Japanese Southern Amay, to take Manila out of the bdattle area and,
using a delaying action, withdraw his forces to the mountains north amd
east of the oity (R 3624-3527, 3669).

Pargnant thereto, adout the middle of Decembder 1944, he issued the
necessary orders to evacuse the city and ordered his chief of ataff ¢
inform the 4th Alr Ammy and the navy of his deeision (R 3630). During
Decenber 1944 or Jammary 1945, no knewn defenses were constructed in the
city, ™t he maintained Jspanese troope thers for defense ageinst aizborne
attack (R 3831, 3670). Only abdout 1,500 Japanese army troops remained
in the city during the Bastle of Nanila and they were used to gusrd mili-
tary supplies, protect the supply route, control traffic and od$ain nil
(n M’f Vhen, on 13 Fedruary 1945, he heard the greater part of the
RAVY tToops remained in the city, he sent an order for their immediate
evacuationa, but he did not receive a direct Teply %0 hies order (R 2529-
3534). [His telephone and wvireless commtinication systems had droken down
and 4t took from two days 0 two weeks %o $°% & mossage through to dif-
ferent headquarters (R 3128, 3387). ¥ specifically related:

"I never heard adout any of the idllings"*"I was constantly
under attack by large American forces *** under presoure day
and night**® and 1% took all of my time and effers.***I wvas
2ot able to make a personal inspection.®®® The troope were
scattered about a great dea). ***Communications were very poor.***
I was foreed to confront the siperior United States forces with

ability I was unfamiliar.®*® I found myself sompletely cut of
fouch with the situatioR.®**If I could have forseen these things,
1 would have concentrated all ny efforts toward preventing it.®ees
(R 3654-3856).

Although the attitude of the Filipinme civilians was one of increasing
hoetility ( R 3574), he 414 not, though in vielatios of duty, investigate
their conditions at any time (R 3583, 3884) mor did he ever iuspect
prisoner of war or eivilian intersment caspe (R 3537), even though one
was located at his headquarters (R 3673), nor receive reports of prisoner
disposal submitted to his own headquarters (R 3612, 3813) or reporte
from the um.q police as to thelr methods or perscanel held in thelir

J8). At no time did he order, receive ARy report or acquire
any knovledge whatever of any mistreatmeat or killing of eivilisns, Aneri-
can prisoners of war or ecivilian internees by the military police or any
of his subordinates (R 3534, 3536, 3540, 3541, 3543, 3681, 3646, 36847).
Although he heard reperts of guerrilla astivities amd directed their sup-
pression or "mepping wp® (R 3545, 3547, 3578), he 414 not mathorise or re-
zun r)cporto of execution of suspected guerrillas by the military police

R 3583).

He was responsidle for enfloreing regulations conceraing military
trial (R 3§77, 3878, 3882) though he could not change them as $o thelr
proeedure (R 3873). Sentences of death by court-martial or other mili-
tary tritunal in the 14th Ares Ammy required his approval (R 3850, 3891,
3865, 38686), though execution of such sentences of the 36%h Army and the




Shimbu group could be ordered by their own commander (R 3869, 3870). There
were no trials of prisconers of war or civilisn internees in his comaand
while in the Philippines (R 3890, 3691) dus helapproved sdout 40 death
sentences conoeraing guerrillas tl 35008). Eo vas nover advised that a
large zumbder of persons suspecied as guerrillas ware held by the Kempel

Tai or that there was insufficient time %o give tham a frial or that Sheir
cases were disposed of without trial (2 3892, 3871). Vhile a commanding
officer must s0 control his troops that they do 0ot commit atrocities ,
unless he has ordered, persitted or condoned the offenses he has ne eris-
inal responsidilities and if he has taken netessary precamtions, then he

is subject S0 no more then administrative punishment (R 3650, 3653, 3683,
3674). HEis first notice of the commission of any atroeities charged was
his receipt of charges at New Bilidid prisoa (R 3856), although {f he had
known he would have Saken every poseibdle preventative and punitive measure
exmvx (R 3858). He was completely absorbded bty the operational command of
preparing to confront superior United States forou'fl 3583, 3584), communice~
tions were poor, he was unfemiliar with the character and ability of hie
subordinates, Yecause of the day and aight pressure consusing =2ll of his
time he was completely out of touch with the situation. (R 3654-3857).

Lt.Oen. Muto, Chief of Staff, corroberated accused's testimony, em-
pshagising the difficulty of maintaining personal eoatact with troops and
their conduct (R 23998, 3013, 3020, 3021, 30235) and the attendant neces-
sity of relying on reports of subordinates which disclosed no abuses or
violations of kaws of War, :

The defense of Manila, guerrilla activisies and treatuent of priscners
of war and civilian internses were the mabject of additional defense ¢vi-
dence. -

The Nogachi detachment of 1,800 which resained durimg she Battle of
Manila (R 3113) was dispersed at five central points im the oity (R 314).
i1t constructed a few pillboxes Yut prepared ne other means of defense ox-
cept the placing of dynamite on two bridges purusaat to directions (R 3141)
and wvas not ordered to destroy duildings (R 2130) or evea to occupy
Nanila (R 3127). 1Its mission included the maintenance of order, pro-
tection of supplies, preveation of strocities (R 3114) and wopping up of
guerrillas (R 3137). Shortly after a premature contact with the Asericans
on 3 Pedbruary (R 35119), wvhich was not expected by Jspanese intelligence
until 20 February (R 3117), communications became poer (R 3120, 31233, 3134)
and while attempting to evacuate the city the troops were sngaged and cut
off at the Paco Station By the United States forces (R 3125). Mo reports
of atrocities committed im the city of Masila were ever received dy Celoael
Noguchi, commander of the detachment (R 3134). The United States ATIN
never intercepted an order by the accused directing the destruction of
Manila or the killing of prissaers of war or mon-combatant civilians (R 3393)
even though the method of issuance would ultimately result ia the
production of a large mumder of written coples, as the immediate sub-
commander, after orsl receipt from General Yamashits, would reduce the
order to writing and pass i% down through the chaim of command (R 3394).

Widespread guerrilla activities of well-organised units munbering
at least 300,000 in the Central Luson area and centered in Nanila per-
sisted from 1942 to the time of the surrender (R 3437, 3443, 3447). Their
underground activities and repeated attacks on Japanese supply lines and
personnel (R 3440, 3447) even included sn attempt to dlowv up General
Yamashita's headquarters (R 3044, 3045), culminating in the igsuance .of
the suppression order (R 3038).

Your defense witnesses and a commission vitness, Lit.CGen. Xou, com~
mander of prisoner of war and civilian internee camps under General Tama-
shita, testified thet food rations of American priscmners amd civiliaa in-
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ternees, although greatly curtailed dy sdsolute Retesaily during at least
some of the interment period, did mot 41ffer from Shose lssued to Jepanese
soldiers (R 3288, 3823, 3371, 3348, 3349). fome of the Jepanese were
better off, however, becmse thay had other cutside sources of food (R 3374,
o8 vere cased by lack of fuel for transportation and
eneny and guerrilla attacks on supply lines (R 2109, food
situation being bad everyvhere, even in General Yemashi

(R 2195). Primary respensibility was in the emp commandess, not Gemeral
Tamashita, who, hovever, had the overall responsibility (R 3281, 3282),
Grinnell, oby, Larson and Johnson, the American internses at Santo
fomas under al Kou's command, were turned over dy him to the Kempel
Zai late in Decemder, though he thought for investigational purposes ?ﬁ 381,
3312, 3366-3368).

As 0 treatment of American priscsers aboard the "Oryoku Maru" (Item

23), though the room given bhem was uncomforssble and $0o mmall, there was

no ventilation wien the hateh was closed (R 3326, 3327) and the ship was
uomarked (R 3331), they had the same acoommodations as Japanese soldiers

(B 3341). 1Leading, wnloading and guardiag of the prisonars wers General
Eou's responsidilities (R 4336, 3338, 3329), while furnishing of food end
agscommodations were duties of the captain of the ship, not at that time wunder
the comsand of Kou (R 3241). Both mocused and Genorsl Mute stated that

the prisonsrs killed at Falawan were assiguned %o the 4th Aly army, which

did not come under accused's command until 1 Jesuary 1945 (R 3029, 3541),

Some eight characher witnesses, military and egivilian, czlled by
the accused, testified %o his soundness of character as a man (R 3464,
3463, 3495, 3510), his firmness and fairness as a disciplinarien (R 3454,
3469, 3483) and hie sbility snd energetic lesdarshdp as & soldler (E 3490,
3496), that he was well thought of by his people (E 5490), wes withous
pelitical ambitions (R 3450, 8611, 3615, 3616) and was & modsvate as dise
tinguished from a radical (R 38500, @801, 3516).

L B I N 2 & » 2 & ¥ K =

d. Bufficiengy of the evidence %o suppors the findings

The elements of the offence chavged agains$ accused may de stated
as follows: (1) Shat the atrocities were cogisitted as alleged in the Bi11 of
Farticulars (3) by members of accused's commend; and (3) that sccused un~
lavfully disregarded snd failed %o discharge his duty as commander of armed
forees of japan $0 control the operatioms of the mexbers of hie command,
peruitting them to commit such atrocitisa.

The evidence of the atrocities alleged in the ninety different speci-
fications oun which vroof was adduced is clear, complete, convincing aad,
for the mest part, uneontradicted by the defense. Throughout the islands,
wvbish vere laid waste by an unparalleled burning and destruction of entire
villages, homes, churches, hospitales and schools, all without nilisary
Justification, i%s people, including thousands of women and childrem, were
tortured, starved, deaten, bdayoneted, clubbed, hanged, Darned alive and
subjected %o mase executions rarely rivalled in history, more tham 30,000
deaths Deing revealed by the record. FPriseners of war and oivildan
internses suffered systematie starvation, torture, withholding of mediecal
and hospital facllities and execution in disregard of the rules of inter-
national law, The defense, while comnceding the commission of atrocities,
offered svidence tending to establish that many, though not a substantial
portion, Tesulted from guerrills activity. The frailty of this defense
ie Tevealed by executions of countless women and c¢hildren, who, though inm
isclated instances engaged in gerrilla Sactice, did not do so in large
Iumbers or pursiant %0 plan, and by the aystematie putting ¢ death with
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indeseribadle bestiality of 1ittle girle and doys only months oF even days
old. TFarshermore, the alleged " 11as” were rarely acecorded a trial

as required by imternational law (BN 27-10, par. 351), and even that right
wvhen granted wes wholly techmicel, as the sugspecte wers not allowed %o be
represented by counsel, to teatify or offer evidence on their own behalfe,
at trials none of which lasted more than five mimtes (R 22684, 228B).

Though not demying the mistrestment, torturs, murder or other violations

of the laws of war with respect $o American prisoners emd civilian in-
ternees, and while not pretending that they were well fed, the accursd
claims that the Japaness themselves received the seme rationn. There is,
however, mubstantial evidenee of their systematic starvation while Japan~
ess guarde were well fed, and even when the rations wers the same the Japan-
ene frequenily had outside sources of food unavailable $o those held by them.

It is elpo abundantly proved that the atrocitles were connitted by
mexbers of sccused's command. By hias own testimony he assumed command of
the 14th Ares Army, embracing all of the Philippines, on 9 October 1944,
and vhile hig juriediction did not at first include the 4%8h Air Army some
30,000 troops directly under Gotint Terauchi, the Supreme Southern Come-

- mander, and the 3rd Maritime Transport Command, these troops guccessively

“—omme under hias furisdiction so that by 6 Jamuary he had unésr him all land
troons in the Philippines and the $actical control of all naval forcas
fighting on 1and. the 15tk of Pebruary he slso took over the 3rd Mari-
time Transnort Commend. During the entire time he gontrolled, through
intormediate commanders, prisoner of war and civilian internes capps and
the military police. Moat of the atrocities occurred after 6 January,
and on analyesis 4% sppesrs thnd all earlier ones vere connitted in areas
sccunisd exclunsively Yy troops under acoused's comeand, Fo lssue 1a ten-
dered on this question oxcept with respect to the Palswvan incident invelv-
ing 160 prisoners of war (Item 9) and the mistreatment of prisoners aboard
the Oryokm Mayu (Item 83), concerning which 1t is insisted that the toops
committing these atrocities were not under accused!s Jurisdiction. It is
unnecsasary %o deeide the iasecue on thease two cases ig viev of the over-
vhelming muber of othor atrocities conceralng which there is no guestien
but thet they were committed by accused's troops.

The only real question in the ease concarns socused's responsibility
for the strocities shown to have deen committed ly menbders of his command.
Upon this fssue a careful roading of all the evidenge impels the conclusion
that 1% demonstrates this responaibility. In the first plece the mtrocities
were B0 numaroue, involved s0 many people, and were 60 videspreed that
negused's profesped igmorance is incredible. Then, too, their nasaner of
compl gsion reveals s striking similarity of patiern throughout. Shortly
Yefors the arrivel of Americen forces in eagh area eiviliang were rounded
ap in a central plece vhere thay were bayoneted, deheaded or othervise
idlled with ¢ minimum expetidifure of asmsmnition snd the bodies Turied or
diesposed of in rivers, by burning in houses oOF turying io mase graves. in
many instences therewvans evidence of prearranged planning of the sites of
the executions. Almost uniforuly the etrocities were committed under the
supervivion of officers or noncommicsioned officers and in several in-
stances there was direet proof of statements by the Japanese participants
thet they were acting pursusnt to orders of higher muthorities, in a
few ennes Yomashite himself being mentioned as the source of the order,
There was also a similsrity of method in cases involving prisoners of war
ond civilian internees. All this leads to the inevitable conclusion that
the atrocities wers hot the sporadic acte of soldiers out of control btut
wers carried out pursuant to a deliderate plan of mass externination which

mst have emananted from higher authority or at least had its val.
" Nvidence in the form of cu‘:.mr.d dlarltzs and documente 2100 ﬂ!ﬁ?&&. that

the executions on civilians were ordered by higher command. For exsmple,




captured notes and instructions b Colonel Mjishige, one of the aecused's
subordinates, containmed the following: "Ki11 American troops cruslly.

Do not kill them with one stroke. Shoot guerrillas. Kill all who op-
pose the Nmperer, eveam women and children® (R 2813). note-
wvorthy was nonlng‘thb\qnlu Oroup, commended by accused through
General Yokoyams, ¢ order was found in the

that all pesple on the dattlefield in and
and special comstruction units, be put to death (R
This group was commanded by a Major General and the
therefore ¢omes high in the chain of command, close
From the wvidespread charecter of the atrocities
orderliness of their execution and the proof that
to orders, the conclusion is inevitadle that the ac
and either gave his tacit approval to them or at least failed to do
thing either to prevent them or to punish their perpotrators. Accused
himeelf admitted that he ordered the suppressien or "mopping wp® of
guerrillas (R 3811, 3845, 38547, 3678, Bx. 353) and that he $ook neo steps
to guard againet any excesses in the execution of this order. One canno
be ummindful of the fact that acoused, as experienced officer, in giving
such an order must have been aware of the dangers invelved when such in-
structions wvere communicated to troops the Sype of the Jepanese.

M-mmmdmumrmatmuunutumunlnn
more direetly with the commission of some of $he atrooities. MHis own
staff Judge Advocate, Uolonsl Hishiharu, $0ld Mm that thers was & large
mnber of guerrillas in custody and not sufficient time to try them and
sald that the Kempei Tal “would punish those who were to be puni . P
this propoeition that guerrillas tims Do executed witheout trial accused
merely nodded in apparent spproval (R 3763, 3783, 2814, 3818). In addi-
tlon some significance may De given to the testimeny of the witness Joagquin
3. Galang who in Decsmder heard sccused tell Ricarte, the celedrated
collsborationist, through am interpreter, a 14-yoar old bdoy and grandsen
of RBicarte, in speaking of the alleged order to kill Pilipinos in Manila,
“the order is my order and Decsuse of that it should no% be Drokea or dis-
obayed" (R 1069, 2014). While this evidence is somevhat weakened by
proof fhat the witness who so testified was a confined collaborationint
himself, m»mmuummmthummmm
sation, it cannot Ve wholly disregarded simce it is entirely consistent
vith vhat later transpired in NMamila. Accused stoudly insiste that he knew
nothing of any of the atrocities and assigns as the reason for his lack of
knowvledge the complete dreskdown of communications ineident to the swift
and overpowering sdvance of the American forces and %o his complete pre-
occupation with plans for the defense of the Philippines.  He states that
his troope were disorganised and out of contrel, leaving the inferense $hat
he eould net have prevented the atroscities even had he kiown of thesm.

With respect $o Manila, he ilsists that he had oanly tastical command of maval
treops operating in the city and although he had suthority %o restrain

such troops committing disorders, he could not discipline them, the aitua-
tion Being tihus complicated by dual control detween himself and the Bavy.
Here in partionlar the defense vitnesses testified $0 a Breakiown of com-
munications with the forces in Manmila. “hile, however, it may be con-
ceded that the accused was operating under seme difficulty aue to the rapid-"
I of the advance of the Americans, there was sudstantial evidence inm the (¢
record that the situation was 2ot s0 dad as stated by the accused. Genmeral
Tokoyama adeitted that he had cegamnication with troops in Manila until 20
hhur‘ and with the accused until June and made fregquent reports $o him
(R 2674). Burely = matter so importaat as the massaere of 8,000 people by
Japanese troops mmst necessarily have deen reported. Sinoce accused had
mithority to control the operatioms of the maval trocps he cannot abselve
hinself of responsibility By showing that others had the duty of punishing
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tion as %o any dreakdowa in oom-
in Fedruary some of the most widespread
mbetantial proef that commmuications
a$ vhieh atrocities occcurred were at

that he nistreatasnt of priseners
present in his

them for digorders. There is o
suscations with Batangas where late
atrocities occcurred, nor is there
with the other points in the islands

I¢ is also notowertldy

troops theredy
| charged.

Sone of the five members of $he commiassion recommended clemency, ROT

414 Licutenant Gsneral ¥. D. Styer, Commanding United States Army Yorces,
Western Pacific, who spproved the sentense. Under international law all

war orimes are sudjest $o the death pemslty, although a lesser sentence
night have been imposed by the cemmission had it so desired (M 237-10,
par. 357). Under the facts and circumstances estadlished in this case, the

penalty imposed by the commipsion 18 appropriate to the offense and no
commatation thereef is warranted. This of fice is therefor constirained %o
recommend that clemency be not extended.
6. m-,t It is the opinion of this office that:
2. The Commission was legally constitubed;
. The Commission had jurisdiction of the person and the offense|
e. The evidense supperts the finding of guiltys

d. The record dipcloses ne errors imjuriously affecting the
gubstantial rights of the accused; and,

e. The sentence is legal.

¢ It is acoordingly recommended that the semtence

e confirmed and ordered executed under the supervision of and at a time
and place to de desiguated by the Oommsnding General, United States Army
Forces Westera Pacifie.

8. AQRICN: An action designed %Yo carry the adove recomaendations
inte effect should they meet with your approval, is submitted herevith.

—-——W"——__—-— __________—.——-——-——-—-———-——
JOHN H. FINGER, CHARLES P, MULDOON,
Major, J.A.G.0., Lisutenant Golonel, J.A.6.D.,

Assistant Theater Judge Advocats. Assistant Theater Judge Advecate.

W

n. 'i m. . L ]
Colonel, 7.A.6.0C., Solonel, Infantry, |
Agsistant Theater Judge Advocate. Assistant Theater Judge Advocate.

0. W, onagvenm,

“1.“1. JO‘IOI’B!.
Theater Judge Advocate
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